### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	
DEPARTMENT OF LOTTERY,	
-	
Petitioner,	
	CASE NO. SC01-1795
<b>v.</b>	DIST. CT. NO. 1D00-451/1D00-578
GTECH CORPORATION,	
Respondent.	

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF LOTTERY

JEFFREY L. FREHN
Florida Bar No. 0817562
KATHERINE E. GIDDINGS
Florida Bar No. 0949396
Katz, Kutter, Haigler, Alderman,
Bryant & Yon, P.A.
106 East College Ave., Suite 1200
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Telephone: (850) 224-9634
Telecopier: (850) 222-0103
Attorneys for Department of

Lottery

#

Rule 60A-1.018(2)(g), Fla. Admin. Code	<u>sim</u>

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

#### 1. Overview.

The Department of Lottery ("DOL") is responsible for administering lottery games, including instant and on-line games. § 24.105(2), Fla. Stat. Since its inception, DOL has opted to contract with a third party vendor to implement and operate the on-line gaming system. DOL entered into its first on-line gaming contract with Automated Wagering International, Inc. ("AWI") in 1988. V.I, 349 ¶ 1. The term of the 1988 contract was set to expire June 30, 1996. V.I,165¶ 9.

In 1995, before the 1988 contract expired, DOL initiated a procurement process to secure a new on-line contract by issuing a request for proposals (the "RFP"). V.I,165 ¶¶ 9-10. The specifications of the RFP placed all interested parties on notice that DOL, in accordance with its rules, could elect to negotiate the final terms of any contract awarded under the RFP. V.II,516 § 1.1; V.II,607 § 8.7.2.

AWI and Gtech Corporation ("Gtech Corp.") submitted the only proposals in response to the RFP. V.I,165¶11. After conducting an evaluation, DOL ranked AWI ahead of Gtech (V.III,717) and issued a Notice of Award, stating DOL's intention to negotiate a contract with AWI pursuant to the specifications of the RFP (V.III,716). On November 5, 1995, Gtech filed an administrative action to protest DOL's decision to rank AWI first. V.III,720-71. On March 23, 1998, following two evidentiary hearings before the Division of Administrative Hearings ("DOAH"), DOL issued a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The record in this case, per order of the district court, was provided to the district court through appendices of the parties. <u>See Fla. Dept. of Lottery v. Gtech Corp.</u>, Case No. 1D00-451/1D00-578 (Orders) (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Mar. 13 and Apr. 25, 2000). Unless otherwise stated, all references to the record shall be to the appendices filed by Gtech, which shall be referenced by volume, page, and, where appropriate, paragraph (e.g., record reference IV, 635, ¶ 1.2, would reference Volume IV, page 635, paragraph 1.2).

final order adopting the administrative law judge's recommendation to reject Gtech's bid protest. V.III,1026-36. Gtech appealed that decision to the First District Court of Appeal, but on July 22, 1999, the First District affirmed DOL's order. Gtech Corp. v. Fla. Dept. of Lottery, 737 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). Gtech's petition for review of that decision in this Court was denied on December 3, 1999, more than four years after the RFP was first issued. Gtech Corp. v. Fla. Dept. of Lottery, 749 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 1999).

During the pendency of the appeal, and pursuant to its March 23, 1998 final order, DOL entered into contract negotiations with AWI, which led to the execution of a contract on October 29, 1998. V.I,26-56. Three months later, on February 5, 1999, Gtech filed an action in circuit court, seeking a declaration that the October 29 contract was void. V.I,5. DOL and AWI subsequently amended their contract on March 9, 1999 (V.I,54-86), whereupon Gtech amended its complaint to challenge the validity of the amended agreement (hereafter the "Negotiated Contract") (V.I,163).

Gtech's amended complaint alleges that the Negotiated Contract was void because DOL and AWI negotiated material contract terms that deviated from the RFP and AWI's proposal. V.I,176¶42. After all parties filed summary judgment motions, the trial judge, N. Sanders Sauls, denied the motions filed by DOL and AWI, but granted Gtech's motion and declared the Negotiated Contract void. V.VI,1833-1834. DOL and AWI appealed that decision to the First District Court of Appeal. V.VI,1833-1834. With Judge Charles J. Kahn, Jr., dissenting, the district court majority (Charles E. Miner, Jr., and Anne C. Booth) affirmed Judge Sauls' decision, but on rehearing unanimously certified two questions addressing the following issues: (1) whether DOL had the authority to negotiate substantive terms of the Negotiated Contract; and (2) whether Gtech's collateral attack on the Negotiated Contract was

properly brought in circuit court. <u>Fla. Dept. of Lottery v. Gtech Corp.</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D621, 2001 WL 193770 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA Feb. 28, 2001).

# 2. Facts Relating to the First Certified Question: DOL's Contract Negotiating Authority

In issuing the RFP, DOL relied on its procurement authority under Chapter 24, Florida Statutes. See, e.g., V.II,516 § 1.1. Supplementing the procurement authority given to every other state agency under Chapter 287, Chapter 24 authorizes DOL to step into the shoes of the state's procurement agent, the Department of Management Services ("DMS"), by allowing DOL to procure goods and services using DMS's procurement authority under any statute or DMS <u>rule</u>. § 24.104(14). Section 24.104(14) states in relevant part:

[DOL] shall . . . [h]ave the authority to perform any of the functions of the Department of Management Services under chapter 255, chapter 273, chapter 281, chapter 283, or chapter 287, or any rules adopted under any such chapter, and may grant approvals provided for under any such chapter or rules.

(Emphasis added).

Notably, when the RFP was issued, DMS had in place a rule which expressly stated that DMS could procure goods and services through a contract negotiation process.<sup>2</sup> Rule 60A-1.018(2), F.A.C.<sup>3</sup> That rule set forth certain procedures to be followed in conducting such negotiations. <u>Id</u>. It also authorized alternative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See DMS Rule 60A-1.018(2): "Negotiation of Contracts without First Seeking Competitive Sealed Bids/Proposals Exceeding the Threshold for Category Two – When determined to be in the best interests of the State, the Division may contract by negotiation or may delegate to any agency the authority to contract by negotiation."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For this Court's convenience, all administrative rules referenced in this Brief are attached.

negotiation procedures when such alternative negotiation procedures were deemed to be in the best interest of the State, stating:

When it deems it to be in the best interest of the State, [DMS] may authorize or require the use of <u>alternative negotiation procedures</u>. Such alternative negotiation procedures shall be specified in writing and made available to prospective contractors prior to commencing negotiations with any vendor.

Rule 60A-1.018(2)(g), F.A.C. (emphasis added).

Consistent with Rule 60A-1.018(2)(g), DOL had in place an emergency rule<sup>4</sup> that established a competitive negotiation process as a means for conducting major procurements of goods and services. See Rule 53ER87-13, F.A.C.<sup>5</sup> In conducting procurements under this rule, DOL was required to first issue an RFP. DOL would

The department may at any time adopt emergency rules pursuant to s. 120.54. The Legislature finds that such emergency rulemaking power is necessary for the preservation of the rights and welfare of the people in order to provide additional funds to benefit the public. The Legislature further finds that the unique nature of state lottery operations requires, from time to time, that the department respond as quickly as is practicable to changes in the marketplace. Therefore, in adopting such emergency rules, the department need not make the findings required by s. 120.54(4)(a). Emergency rules adopted under this section are exempt from s. 120.54(4)(c) and shall remain in effect until replaced by other emergency rules or by rules adopted under the nonemergency rulemaking procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As compared to other agencies, the Florida Legislature gave DOL extraordinary emergency rulemaking authority in section 24.109(1):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In 1997, DOL reenacted and recodified the provisions of Rule 53ER87-13 in Rule 53ER97-39. Thus, from 1987 to the execution of the Negotiated Contract, DOL had its own rule providing for procuring goods and services through a competitive negotiation process.

then rank respondents and commence negotiations with the highest ranked respondent. DOL's competitive negotiation rule stated in relevant part as follows:

When it is considered in the best interest of the State, [DOL] can acquire goods and services, including major procurements through a competitive negotiation process.

1. A Formal Request for Proposal will be let stating general requirements to be met and that award of the contract will be through a competitive negotiation process.

. . . .

5. The Secretary . . . <u>shall negotiate</u> a contract with the most highly qualified firm. Should the Secretary . . . be unable <u>to negotiate</u> a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to be the most qualified at a price the Department determines to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that firm shall be terminated. The Secretary . . . shall then <u>undertake negotiations</u> with the second-most qualified firm. Failing accord with the second most qualified firm, the Secretary . . . shall terminate <u>negotiations</u> with that firm and shall then undertake <u>negotiations</u> with the third-most qualified firm. Should the Secretary . . . be unable to <u>negotiate</u> a satisfactory contract with any of the selected firms, additional firms may be selected in accordance with this rule, or <u>negotiations</u> may be reinstated following the original order of priority. <u>Negotiations</u> shall continue in accordance with this rule until an agreement is reached or all proposals are rejected.

Rule 53ER87-13(5)(i), F.A.C. (emphasis added).

The procedures DOL established for the procurement of the new on-line gaming system and services contract at issue tracked Rule 53ER87-13. Compare Rule 53ER87-13 with Spec. 8.7.2. V.II,607. In accordance with its rule, DOL issued an RFP that solicited proposals from qualified vendors and established a mechanism for ranking proposals. V.II,512-712. In order to facilitate this ranking, so that all respondents could be measured using a common standard or yardstick, the RFP

mandated that each proposal address certain minimum requirements.<sup>6</sup> Proposals that met the minimum requirements would be deemed responsive and sent to an evaluation committee for scoring.<sup>7</sup> V.II,699-700 § 1.7(E-J). After that ranking was complete, DOL then had the option to commence negotiations with the highest ranked proposer. V.II,700 § 1.7(J); V.II,607 § 8.7.2.

In addition to the option of negotiation, RFP Specification 1.21 provided that DOL could choose to contract without any negotiations, in which case the terms of the final contract would be derived entirely from the RFP and the highest ranked proposal.<sup>8</sup> But, consistent with DOL's negotiation authority, the RFP also made clear that the parties could agree to terms in the final contract that deviated from the RFP, the vendor's proposal, or both. See, e.g., RFP Spec. 1.36 ("the Contract shall incorporate this RFP, addenda to this RFP, and the Contractor's proposal . . . except

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See RFP Spec. 1.18 (DOL "has established certain mandatory requirements which must be included as part of **any proposal**. The use of the terms 'shall', 'must' or 'will' . . . in this RFP indicate a mandatory requirement or condition.") (emphasis added). V.II, 524 § 1.18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Conversely, a proposal that failed to comply with the mandatory proposal requirements would be deemed non-responsive and rejected, since a deviation from a mandatory requirement would make it uncomparable to another proposal. <u>See RFP Spec. 1.19</u> ("A non-responsive proposal is one that does not meet all material requirements of the RFP. Material requirements of the RFP are those set forth as mandatory or without which an adequate analysis <u>and comparison</u> of proposals is impossible . . . ."). V.II, 524-525 § 1.19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See RFP Spec. 1.21 (DOL "reserves the right to make an award with or without further negotiations with the apparent successful Respondent. Therefore, proposals should be submitted with the most favorable terms Respondents can offer."). V.II, 628.

to the extent that the Contract explicitly provides to the contrary.") (emphasis added). V.II,700.

The terms of the RFP were extremely specific as to DOL's negotiation options. In the very first section of the RFP, DOL provided an overview of the procurement process in which it clearly indicated that the final contract would be formulated through negotiations. RFP Specification 1.1 stated as follows:

Respondents who are determined to be responsive and responsible pursuant to RFP Part I, and whose technical proposals under RFP Part II are determined to be responsive to the requirements of RFP Part II, will have their technical proposals submitted to an Evaluation Committee for evaluation. Thereafter, price proposals will be opened, responsiveness determined, tabulated and points awarded as provided herein. Contract negotiations may then be commenced with the Respondent with the highest overall score.

### V.II,516 (emphasis added).

The entire RFP process – from the ranking of proposals to the negotiation of the final contract terms – was also described with particularity in the RFP timetable and specifically noticed interested proposers that DOL anticipated substantive negotiation of the final terms of any contract awarded under the RFP. See Spec. 1.7(J) ("Upon completion of negotiations, a Contract, if any, between the Lottery and the successful Respondent is expected to be awarded and executed as soon as lawfully possible") (emphasis added). V.II,700.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See also RFP Spec. 1.3 (which states that the term "contract" means the "agreement entered into by the Lottery and the successful Respondent to this RFP, which shall incorporate among other provisions, the contents of this RFP and the successful Respondent's proposal, except as specifically provided to the contrary in the Contract"). V.II, 517.

As to how the negotiations would be conducted, the RFP provided very detailed specifications that mirrored Rule 53ER87-13(5)(i)5. The negotiation procedures were codified in RFP specification 8.7.2, which stated:

### 8.7.2 Negotiation

If the Secretary determines that the proposals under this RFP are the best method of obtaining the desired gaming system and services, the Secretary shall negotiate a Contract with the most highly qualified Respondent. Should the Secretary be unable to negotiate with that Respondent the **conditions** and **price** that the **Lottery deems to be <u>fair</u>**, **competitive**, **and reasonable**, negotiations with that Respondent shall be terminated. The Secretary shall then undertake negotiations with the second most qualified Respondent. Should the Lottery be unable to negotiate a satisfactory Contract with that firm, additional firms may be selected to participate in this negotiation process or negotiations may be reinstated following the original order of priority. Negotiations shall continue until an agreement is reached or all proposals are rejected. The Lottery reserves the right to reject all proposals at any time during negotiations.

## V.II,607 (emphasis added).

The plain language of both Rule 53ER87-13(5)(i)5 and the RFP stated that DOL intended to engage in substantive contract negotiations following the ranking of proposals. Indeed, Specification 8.7.2 of the RFP specifically stated that the negotiations could include not only contract conditions, but also terms regarding price. V.II,607. Such negotiations, however, were not without limitation. Under both the rule and the RFP, **any negotiated term had to be "fair, competitive, and reasonable."** Rule 53ER87-13(5)(i)5.; V.II,607 § 8.7.2 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>See <u>also</u> RFP Spec. 3.1: "The Contractor's sole payments for meeting all requirements specified herein, and those that arise during the term of this Contract, <u>will be the amount</u> determined in accordance with the Contract <u>negotiated</u> between the Contractor and the Lottery." V.II,710 (emphasis added).

# 3. <u>Facts Relating to the Second Certified Question: Waiver of Gtech's Right to Collaterally Attack the Negotiated Contract in Circuit Court.</u>

DOL issued its RFP subject to the rights of vendors under Chapter 120. V.II,521 § 1.9. That chapter includes section 120.57(3)(b), which both establishes and limits vendors' rights to challenge the validity or propriety of any specification incorporated into an RFP.<sup>11</sup> When DOL initiated this procurement, DOL put all vendors on notice of their section 120.57(3)(b) rights by including the following provision in the RFP:

Any prospective Respondent who disputes the reasonableness or appropriateness of the terms, conditions, and specifications of this RFP shall file a formal written protest in appropriate form within seventy-two (72) hours . . . of the receipt of the RFP or of a written addendum <u>and/or</u> <u>written answers to questions.</u> . . . Failure to both file a formal written protest as provided in Chapter 24.209(2) and post a bond . . . shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under Chapter 120, Florida Statutes.

V.II,521 § 1.9 (emphasis added).

DOL's section 120.57(3) notice clearly stated that DOL's responses to vendor questions could trigger a right to initiate a protest directed to the RFP. V.II,521 § 1.9. In this regard, the RFP provided prospective vendors multiple opportunities to question DOL about the meaning of the RFP terms and conditions. For instance, the RFP scheduled a pre-bid conference that was intended to give respondents an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Section 120.57(3)(b) states: "With respect to a protest of the specifications contained in an invitation to bid or in a request for proposals, the notice of protest shall be filed in writing within 72 hours after the receipt of the notice of the project plans and specifications in an invitation to bid or request for proposals, and the formal written protest shall be filed within 10 days after the date the notice of protest is filed. **Failure to file a notice of protest or failure to file a formal written protest shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under this chapter.**" (Emphasis added). Section 24.109 states that section 120.57(3)(b) applies to DOL, but moves the formal written protest deadline up from 10 days to 72 hours.

opportunity to orally ask questions. V.II,699-700 § 1.7. Vendors could also submit written questions about the RFP specifications, which DOL was required to answer "in the form of a written Addendum to the RFP." <u>Id</u>. <sup>12</sup> In other words, any clarifying answer that DOL provided to a vendor question would have become part of the RFP itself, which a vendor could then challenge via section 120.57(3).

Prior to submitting its proposal, Gtech asked at least 114 questions about the RFP. V.II,664-685. Gtech even timely filed an administrative protest under section 120.57(3). V.III,799. However, at no point during the procurement process did Gtech either inquire about or challenge any of the RFP terms relating to the negotiation of the final contract. Neither did Gtech vocalize any inquiry or opposition to a negotiated contract after DOL issued its notice of intent to initiate negotiations with AWI as the highest ranked bidder, which noticed Gtech as follows:

The Florida Lottery has completed ranking of Respondents for the above referenced procurement and **intends to initiate negotiations** with the highest ranked Respondent:

Automated Wagering International, Inc.

Award is contingent upon successful completion of negotiations.

V.III,914 (emphasis added).

In fact, Gtech did initiate a bid protest in response to DOL's notice, but it limited its protest to AWI's ranking as the superior respondent. See Gtech Corp., 2001 WL 193770 at 1; Gtech Corp. v. Fla. Dept. of Lottery, 1997 WL 1052816, No. 96-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>See also RFP Spec. 1.9 ("[q]uestions concerning conditions and specifications of this RFP Part II, and/or requests for changes to conditions and specifications, must be in writing, addressed to the Issuing Officer, and received in accordance with Section 1.7. Copies of questions and final answers will be mailed to all prospective Respondents who were furnished a copy of this RFP by the Lottery, in the form of a written addenda, as specified in Section 1.7"). V.II, 521.

5461-BID (DOAH Rec. Order Jun. 4, 1997). At no time during the protest did Gtech dispute DOL's claimed authority to conclude the contract through negotiations. As a result, the administrative law judge (the "ALJ") issued an order confirming that, consistent with the notice of award, the final contract would be negotiated. <u>Id</u>. In his order, the judge made the following findings recognizing DOL's intent to negotiate:

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