SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF
THE LOTTERY, and AUTOMATED
WAGERING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

Petitioners,

V.

SC Case Nos. SC01-1795 SC01-1796

GTECH CORPORATION,

Respondent.

DCA Case Nos. 1D00-451 1D00-578

GTECH CORPORATION'S ANSWER BRIEF DIRECTED TO THE INITIAL BRIEF OF AUTOMATED WAGERING INTERNATIONAL, INC.

PANZA, MAURER, MAYNARD & NEEL Thomas Panza, Fla. Bar #138551 Mark A. Emanuele, Fla. Bar #541834 Deborah S. Platz, Fla. Bar #51225 NationsBank Building, Third Floor 3600 North Federal Highway Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33308 (954) 390-0100

and

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

After awarding AWI the contract based on its proposal, the Lottery jettisoned the proposal and the RFP and privately negotiated a significantly different contract. There is no dispute that the contract materially deviates from the bid specifications. The deviations modify the basic criteria upon which the competing proposals were evaluated and are favorable to AWI:

Price: The price in the contract is potentially higher than the price proposed by AWI.

<u>Term of Contract:</u> The RFP stated that the contract would expire on June 30, 2001. The new contract extends three and one-half years beyond that date, to December 31, 2004.

"Big Bang" Implementation: The RFP requires a "big bang" implementation whereby the entire system, including all terminals, is installed within six months from the notice of award. The contract adopts a phased-in implementation not to be completed until *thirty-three* months after the notice of award.

<u>Terminals</u>: The contract permits AWI to install different terminals than those described in its proposal.

<u>Liquidated Damages</u>: The liquidated damages penalty for failing to comply with the already relaxed implementation schedule is reduced to 1/100 of the amount in the RFP.

<u>Termination for Convenience</u>: This mandatory provision of the RFP, which appears in virtually every state contract, is deleted from the final contract.

This case presents pure issues of law. The initial issue is whether, by privately negotiating an entirely different contract, the Lottery implicitly decided that the RFP was not the "best method" of awarding the contract. The second issue is whether a contract awarded pursuant to a RFP under Chapter 287 must materially adhere to the RFP specifications and the prevailing bidder's proposal. Common sense dictates the answers. GTECH's proposal, including its price bid, was based upon the assumption that the contract would include the mandatory provisions of the RFP. Had GTECH known that these "mandatory" provisions were negotiable, as now argued by petitioners, it might have submitted a very different proposal. If a state agency can, following a competitive procurement, privately negotiate terms materially different, and more favorable to the prevailing bidder than the mandatory bid specifications, then Chapter 287 has no meaning at all. That is the basis for GTECH's lawsuit.

There is much discussion in petitioners' briefs about "competitive negotiation." This is a red herring that has nothing to do with this case. Competitive negotiation is an alternative method of contract procurement that was, until this year, authorized only for certain specified contracts (i.e., engineering, architectural). It was not an authorized method for procuring the contract in this case and indeed was not used in this case. It is argued in petitioners' briefs as part of a revisionist effort to justify a clearly illegal contract.

GTECH did not waive its right to challenge the March, 1999 contract. Appellants contend that GTECH should have challenged Specification 8.7.2 of the RFP within seventy-two hours of its issuance in 1995. Specification 8.7.2 is facially unobjectionable. As the District Court recognized, the "best method" language precludes negotiations that materially alter the mandatory specifications. GTECH had no reason in 1995 to anticipate that the Lottery would abandon the "big bang" schedule,

negotiate a more favorable price, and deviate from the other mandatory specifications. It certainly did not waive its right the challenge such a contract entered four years later.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction and the Case Does Not Involve an Issue of "Great Public Importance" Justifying Supreme Court Discretionary Review

The fact that the First District certified two questions does not automatically require this Court to decide the case. Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution provides:

The Supreme Court *may* review any decision of a district court of appeal that *passes upon* a question certified by it to be of great public importance . . .

Art. V, Sec. 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (emphasis added).

There are two separate jurisdictional issues in this case. First, GTECH contends that the district court did not "pass upon" either of the certified questions, thereby depriving this Court of subject matter jurisdiction. Second, GTECH contends that, even if the certified questions were passed upon, this Court should exercise its discretion not to decide the case in light of the recent amendments to Chapter 287. The first issue is addressed in GTECH's August 17, 2001 motions to dismiss discretionary review. Those motions remain pending.

⁶ The second issue is *not* addressed in the August 17 motions. It is discussed briefly below and more fully in GTECH's separate brief.

1. "Passed Upon" Jurisdiction

As discussed in GTECH's August 17 motions, a finding that the district court "passed upon" the certified questions is a prerequisite to subject matter jurisdiction. Revitz v. Baya, 355 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1977). This Court routinely dismisses certified question cases when it determines that the district court did not actually pass upon the certified question. Gee v. Seidman & Seidman, 653 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1995); Salgat v. State, 652 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1995). GTECH will not repeat all of the

 $^{^6}$ The two motions are identical. One was filed in Case No. SC01-1795 (the Lottery's petition) and the other was filed in Case No. SC01-1796 (AWI's petition). The two cases have been consolidated.

arguments made in its August 17 motions. However, a brief restatement of the argument is appropriate.

Both certified questions are clearly based upon the dissent. In his dissent, Judge Kahn very clearly states his view that "this case turns on the question of whether Specification 8.7.2 of the Lottery's Request for Proposals (RFP) is valid." (R. 11). Judge Kahn clearly disagreed with GTECH's argument that a provision in a bid document reserving the right to negotiate material changes after the contract is let violates fundamental precepts of competitive bidding. See Wester v. Belote, 138 So. 721, 724 (Fla. 1931); Robert G. Lassiter & Co. v. Taylor, 128 So. 14 (Fla. 1930) (both discussed below). Judge Kahn also disagreed with GTECH's argument that, whatever the specification says, "competitive negotiation" is not permitted for the type of contract involved in this case. See Miami Marinas Assoc., Inc. v. City of Miami, 408 So.2d 615 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (also discussed below). Instead, Judge Kahn concluded that the specification is "valid" and that the resulting contract should be evaluated under the "illegality, fraud, oppression, or misconduct" standard of Department of Transportation v. Groves Watkins, 530 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1988). (R. 12).

GTECH asserts that (to use Judge Kahn's word) the specification is "invalid" as applied in this case. Yet the district court simply did not reach that issue. None of the cases relied upon by GTECH (Wester, Lassiter, Miami Marinas) are cited anywhere in the majority opinion. The majority decided the case on different grounds than were argued by the parties and discussed in Judge Kahn's dissent. The majority held that the "negotiation" provisions of Specification 8.7.2 were never triggered because, by jettisoning AWI's proposal and the mandatory RFP terms, the Lottery implicitly determined that the RFP was not "the best method of obtaining the desired gaming system and services." (R. 6). Because the majority resolved the case based on this threshold issue, it was unnecessary for it to reach the issue raised by the dissent, and expressed in the first certified question, i.e., whether a "negotiated" contract is governed under the Groves Watkins standard. The majority simply did not "pass upon" that issue. Judge Kahn even criticized the majority for not deciding the validity of the "specification." (R. 14).

GTECH will not dwell long on the second certified question. This question was not even arguably passed upon by the majority. Petitioners do not seriously contend that it was. The Lottery devotes a single unpersuasive sentence to the argument. (Lottery Brf., p. 44). AWI is a bit more inventive. It argues that the majority addressed the second certified question "in the broad context of its discussion of the need to exhaust administrative remedies before a circuit court action can be brought." (AWI Brf., p. 20-21).

Petitioners are being purposefully obtuse. The only "exhaustion" issue addressed by the majority is its suggestion, in dicta, that GTECH should have requested an administrative hearing to challenge the 1999 contract, rather than filing a declaratory judgment action in circuit court.

⁷ (R. 4-5). The court held that petitioners waived this argument by failing to raise it. (R. 5). The court did not address the *different* "exhaustion" argument presented in the second certified question, which is whether GTECH should have initiated an administrative challenge to Specification 8.7.2 upon issuance of the RFP *in 1995*. See Section 120.57(3)(b), Fla. Stat. This issue was simply not addressed by the majority. The dissent, however, found the argument persuasive. (R. 13).

At bottom, the "passed upon" issue comes down to whether the jurisdictional requirement can be satisfied by a discussion of the certified questions only in the dissent. In the context of "conflict" jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, this Court has consistently held that "[n]either a dissenting opinion nor the record itself can be used to establish jurisdiction." Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). Rather, the rule established in those cases is that jurisdiction is based only on "the four

_

⁷GTECH respectfully disagrees with the court's conclusion on this issue. The fundamental problem with this argument is that there was never any "point of entry" into the administrative process. An agency must grant affected parties a clear point of entry to Section 120.57 proceedings. <u>United States Service Industries-Florida v. State of Florida, Dept. of Health & Rehab. Services, 385 So.2d 1147, 1149 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)</u>. Failure by an agency to provide the required notice precludes it from arguing that a party has waived administrative proceedings. <u>Capital Copy, Inc. v. University of Florida, 526 So.2d 988 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)</u>; <u>Northrop & Northrop Building Partnership v. State Dept. of Corrections, 528 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)</u>. Here, the Lottery did not provide GTECH (or anybody else) any notice that it was entering into the new contracts with AWI. The Lottery and AWI negotiated the contracts in secret. There was never any point of entry into the administrative process and Section 120.57 does not apply.

corners of the majority decision." Reaves, 485 So.2d at 830.

In <u>Jenkins</u>, the Court explained the reason for this rule:

When facts and testimony are set forth in a majority opinion, they are assumed to be an accurate presentation upon which the judgment of the court is based. However, a dissent does not rise to a similar level of dignity and is not considered as precedent. . . .

<u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So.2d at 1358.

This rationale is equally applicable to jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(4). This is especially true in light of the desire to prevent the district courts from becoming nothing more than an intermediate level court of appeal. <u>Jenkins</u>, 385 So.2d at 1358. A holding that "passed upon" jurisdiction can be based solely on issues addressed in a dissent would increase this Court's caseload and directly conflict with the jurisdiction-reducing goal of <u>Jenkins</u>. Petitioners do not cite a single case for the proposition that a dissent can be considered in determining the existence of "passed upon" jurisdiction. Nor do they offer any rationale for applying a different rule in Section 3(b)(3) and 3(b)(4) cases. The Court should not do so here.

2. Elimination of Any Great Public Importance

This Court retains discretion not to decide the case even if it finds that the First District passed upon the two certified questions. This discretion is plain from the language of Article V, Section 3(b)(4). Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Fla. 1961).

The issue driving this case is whether, after awarding a contract pursuant to an RFP, an agency can privately negotiate a contract more favorable to the prevailing bidder than its winning proposal. AWI acknowledges that such negotiated contracts are "open to suspicion." (AWI Brf., p. 34). Nevertheless, AWI and the Lottery devote most of their briefs to arguing that such negotiations are permissible under administrative rules regarding "competitive negotiation." (AWI Brf., pp. 26-29).

For good or bad, the Florida Legislature, assuming constitutionality, has rendered this issue moot. Effective June, 2001, the Legislature amended Chapter 287 to authorize "competitive negotiation" for this type of contract. Specifically, the Legislature added the following provision

to Section 287.057:

entered

If any agency determines that the use of an invitation to bid or a request for proposal will not result in the best value to the state, based on factors, including, but not limited to, price, quality, design, and workmanship, the agency may procure commodities and contractual services by an invitation to negotiate. An agency may procure commodities and contractual services by a request for a quote from vendors under contract with the department.

Section 287.057(3), Fla. Stat. (2001) (emphasis added).

The amendments define an "invitation to negotiate" ("ITN") as "a written solicitation that calls for responses to select one or more persons or business entities with which to commence negotiations for the procurement of commodities or contractual services." Section 287.012(20), Fla. Stat. (2001). The 2001 amendments specifically add this method to the list of approved procurement vehicles for goods and service contracts. Section 287.057(4), Fla. Stat. (2001).

The 2001 amendments also directly address the issue presented by the second certified question. In language that appears to have been taken directly from this case, the amendments modify Section 287.042 to make clear that a prospective applicant must challenge, within 72 hours of the issuance of the procurement document, any RFP or ITN provision "reserving rights of further negotiation" or "the modification of [sic] amendment of any contract". Section 287.042(2)(d), Fla. Stat. (2001).

As noted in GTECH's separate brief, the 2001 amendments to Chapter 287 do not affect the legality of the contract at issue in this case. However, they clearly eliminate any argument that this case is one of "great public importance." Assuming the 2001 amendments are constitutional, a state agency desiring to engage in "competitive negotiation" now has the means and authority to do so.

8 Moreover, a prospective applicant is now on notice that the mandatory terms of a bid specification are not necessarily mandatory, and language reserving negotiation rights must be challenged immediately.

⁸ The Legislature's specific authorization of "competitive negotiation" for future goods and services procurements is an implicit recognition that such authority did not exist when this contract was

That being the case, a decision upholding the AWI-Lottery contract will not provide any needed "flexibility," or eliminate any "uncertainty" caused by the First District's decision. Any state agency desiring to award a contract through competitive negotiation can now presumably do so. In short, the outcome of this case will have little, if any, effect on future procurements in this State, and thus cannot be of "great public importance."

To the extent a decision authorizing state agencies to engage in private negotiations following the award of a competitively bid contract was ever a matter of "great public importance," it is not now. The 2001 amendments to Chapter 287 presumably give state agencies all the "flexibility" they need to award contracts though "competitive negotiation." A decision by this Court announcing authority that agencies already have would serve "no useful purpose" and thus the Court should decline jurisdiction. Zirin, 128 So.2d at 597.

II. The Negotiated Concessions to AWI Following the Award Process Deprived GTECH of the Opportunity to Compete for the Contract Ultimately Entered, in Violation of Chapter 287.

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